# S220187

#### **CALIFORNIA SUPREME COURT**

## COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA THIRD APPELLATE DISTRICT

In re A.A., et al.,	SUPREME COURT
A person coming under the Juvenile Law )	NO.
SACRAMENTO COUNTY DEPARTMENT )	
OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES )	COURT OF APPEAL
Plaintiff and Respondent,	NO. C074264
v. ,	
J. A., et al.,	SACRAMENTO COUNTY
Defendant and Appellant.	JUVENILE COURT
<u> </u>	NO. JD232871-2
APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE	E SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, IN AND FOR TH	E COUNTY OF SACRAMENTO
HONORABLE PAUL L. SEA	VE, PRESIDING
PETITION OF RESPONDENT FATH	ER FOR REVIEW
AFTER THE PUBLISHED DECISION	OF THE COURT OF

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Are California Rules of Court, rule 5.482(c) and rule 5.484(c)(2) consistent with Welfare and Institutions Code<sup>1</sup> section 224, subdivision (a)(1), when they require a juvenile court to treat as if he were an Indian under the ICWA, a child who has been found by a tribe to be *eligible* for tribal membership, but who has not yet obtained formal enrollment?

#### **NECESSITY FOR REVIEW**

There is a split of authority between two *published* opinions on the validity of California Rules of Court, rule 5.482(c) and 5.484(c)(2) which require a juvenile court to treat as if he were an Indian under the federal ICWA, a child who is *eligible* for tribal enrollment, but not yet enrolled.

The Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, in *In re Jack C.* (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 967 (*Jack C.*), holds that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All statutory references are to this Code, unless indicated otherwise.

California Rule of Court, rule 5.482(c) and rule 5.484(c)(2) are in complete harmony with goal and intent of the Legislature because they promote the prompt resolution of cases involving Indian children under the ICWA. (*Id.* at pp. 977-979.)

In the presenting case, the Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, in *In re Abbigail A*. (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 1450 (*Abbigail A*.), reaches the exact opposite conclusion and finds rule 5.482(c) and rule 5.484(c)(2) inconsistent with state law and, therefore, invalid. The court in *Abbigail A*. expressly rejects the reasoning and holding of *In re Jack C*. (Typed Opinion at pp. 12-13.)

Because of there is a split of authority, trial courts are left without direction on how to act in determining a child's federal ICWA Indian status in cases where a child is *eligible* for tribal enrollment, but not yet *enrolled*.

The issue is one of broad importance to California as this state, as of 2010, had a Native American population of over 700,000 persons. (<a href="http://www.census.gov/prod/cen2010/briefs/c2010br-10.pdf">http://www.census.gov/prod/cen2010/briefs/c2010br-10.pdf</a> (last visited July 23, 2014.)

Moreover, issues involving California's application of the

ICWA in the juvenile courts of this state are of high importance to the Legislature as evidenced by its incorporation of the federal IWCA into California statutory law in 2007. (§ 224 et seq.; *In re Damian C*. (2009) 178 Cal.App.4th 192, 197.)

Finally, it is important for this court to resolve any disputes among the state's intermediate appellate courts regarding the correct interpretation of a federal statute: the ICWA.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Petitioner adopts the Factual and Procedural Background as presented by the Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District in its Opinion. (Typed Opinion at pp. 4-6.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

I

TWO PUBLISHED CASES REACH OPPOSITE CONCLUSIONS ON THE INTERPRETATION OF CALIFORNIA RULES OF COURT GOVERNING THE APPLICATION OF THE FEDERAL INDIAN CHILD WELFARE ACT AND REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO RESOLVE THAT CONFLICT.

A. Introduction to California's Indian Child Law Requiring That Juvenile Courts Treat Children Eligible for Enrollment in a Tribe as if They Were Indians Under the ICWA.

The United States Congress enacted the ICWA to respond to a crisis in which large numbers of Indian children were being removed from their families for placement in non-Indian homes. (*Mississippi Band of Choctaw Indians v. Holyfield* (1989) 490 U.S. 30, 32.)

To fully effectuate ICWA in state Indian child custody proceedings, and overcome the continuing problem of state courts and county agencies ignoring or mishandling ICWA cases, the California Legislature enacted a comprehensive reorganization of statutes related to the application of ICWA, effective January 1, 2007. (§ 224 et seq.; *In re Damian C.* (2009) 178 Cal.App.4th 192, 197.)

This Court recognized that the revisions were intended to

facilitate increased compliance. (In re W.B. (2012) 55 Cal.4th 30.)

As part of that reorganization, section 224 was enacted. That section provides, in relevant part, "the State of California has an interest in protecting Indian children who are members of, *or eligible for* membership in, an Indian tribe." (§ 224, subd. (a)(1), italics added.) It further states in subdivision (a)(2) that "It is the interest of an Indian child that the child's membership ... and connection to the tribal community be encouraged and protected."

Section, 224, subdivision (d), under permission of the federal statute, was designed to provide a higher level of protection to the rights of the Indian child than the federal law. (25 U.S.C. § 1921; § 224, subd. (d) [the higher standard of protection also applies to the rights of the child].)

Finally, subdivision (c) of section 224.3, reaffirmed the longstanding federal rule that formal *enrollment* in a tribe is not dispositive of *membership* in a tribe.

To accomplish the purposes of California's version of the ICWA the Judicial Council formulated California Rule of Court, rules 5.482(c) and 5.484(c) to give direction to courts considering whether

children qualified as Indians under the ICWA. (§ 265; Cal. Const., art. VI, § 6, subd. (d).)

Rule 5.482(c) states, "If after notice has been provided as required by federal and state law a tribe responds indicating that the child is eligible for membership if certain steps are followed, the court must proceed as if the child is an Indian child and direct the appropriate individual or agency to provide active efforts under rule 5.484(c) to secure tribal membership for the child." (Italics added.)

Rule 5.484(c) states, "In addition to any other required findings to place an Indian child with someone other than a parent or Indian custodian, or to terminate parental rights, the court must find that active efforts have been made ... to provide remedial services ... to prevent the breakup of the Indian family and must find that these efforts were unsuccessful." Rule5.484(c)(2) includes in "active efforts" includes "pursuit of any steps necessary to secure tribal membership for a child *if the child is eligible for membership* in a given tribe...." (Italics added.)

In the presenting case of *Abbigail A*., the Third District expressly rejected rule 5.482(c) and 5.484(c)(2) as valid rules.

Specifically, the Third District Court concluded "rules 5.482(c) and 5.484(c)(2) are inconsistent with state law and consequently could not authorize the application of the ICWA" where children have only been found *eligible* for tribal membership, but are not yet members of a tribe. (Typed Opinion at p. 13.)

In reaching this conclusion, the court in *Abbigail A*. expressly contradicts the earlier holding of *Jack C*. The Third District stated "As our approach to the validity of the two rules under state law is *at odds* with *In re Jack C*., we do not find it persuasive." (Typed Opinion at p. 13.)

The court in *Jack C*. held that rule 5.482(c), which required the courts to treat a child *who is eligible* for Indian tribe membership, but not yet enrolled, *as if he or she were an Indian*, was consistent with the intent of the California Legislature as it "promote[d] the timely resolution of dependency matters by avoiding protracted litigation concerning the applicability of ICWA. (*Jack C., supra*, 192 Cal.App.4th at p. 977.)

B. The Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, in Abbigail A. Erred When It Found That the California Rules of Court, rule 5.482(c) and 5.484(c)(2) are Inconsistent With California Law.

The juvenile trial court in this case, based on statements in a January 2013, letter from the Cherokee Nation of Oklahoma, determined that the children were *eligible* for membership in the tribe. (CT 333; RT 51-52, 125.)

Operating under authority of rule 5.482(c), the juvenile court treated the children as if they were Indian Children and ordered the Sacramento County Department of Health and Human Services (Department) to provide tribal enrollment services and assist the minors in enrolling in the Cherokee Nation tribe. (CT 449; RT 46-51, 54-55.) The Department objected to the orders and appealed them. (CT 480-481; RT 46-51.)

On review, the Third District found that any rule allowing for a child who is merely eligible for tribal enrollment to be treated as an Indian in a dependency case violated state law as an unlawful expansion of ICWA's definitions. (Type Opinion at pp. 12-14.) The Third Appellate District is mistaken.

First, the rule 5.482(c) is designed to effectuate the purposes of section 224, which allows for protections of Indian children and those children who are *eligible* for Indian status. The rule does not expand the definition of Indian child, but mirrors the California statute and requires that if a child is *eligible* for membership in a tribe, a county agency and a juvenile court must proceed, as if, the child is an Indian until that question is resolved. Further, there is nothing in the ICWA which prohibits California from treating an *eligible child*, who has not yet perfected tribal membership, as a potential Indian child in such circumstances.

Second, even if rule 5.482(c) expanded the federal definition of an Indian Child, such expansion does no violence to ICWA or the preemption doctrine. This is because the rule 5.482(c) and section 224, subdivision (d) are in complete harmony with the goals and purpose of ICWA.

Indeed, ICWA was intended to promote the stability and security of Indian tribes and families by ensuring the placement of Indian children in foster or adoptive homes reflecting the values of Indian culture. (25 U.S.C. § 1902; *Mississippi Band of Choctaw* 

Indians v. Holyfield (1989) 490 U.S. 30, 37, 109 S.Ct. 1597, 104

L.Ed.2d 29 [ICWA was designed "to protect the rights of the Indian child as an Indian and the rights of the Indian community and tribe in retaining its children in its society."]; In re Jeremiah G. (2009) 172

Cal.App.4th 1514, 1520; In re Kahlen W. (1991) 233 Cal.App.3d

1414, 1421.)

Additionally, the ICWA sets only *minimum standards* for achieving its goals and contemplates, in express language, that some states could invoke higher standards to effectuate its purposes.<sup>2</sup> The ICWA reads, in part, at 25 U.S.C. § 1921: "In any case where State or Federal law applicable to a child custody proceeding under State or Federal law provides a higher standard of protection to the rights of the parent or Indian custodian of an Indian child than the rights provided under this title, the State or Federal court shall apply the

The express purpose of ICWA is to do the following: 1) protect Indian children; preserve and strengthen Indian families; 2) ensure permanency for Indian children; 3) protect the continuing existence of Indian cultures; and 4) ensure that tribes can exercise their sovereign authority over child custody proceedings. (25 U.S.C. § 1901 et seq.) It is through relationship with family, elders, tribal community, and culture that the Indian child's sense of permanence and identity is protected (25 U.S.C. § 1901 et seq.).

State or Federal standard." (emphasis added.)

Also, ICWA, federal guidelines implementing ICWA, and any state statutes, regulations or rules promulgated to implement ICWA shall be liberally construed to effectuate its purpose and preferences.

(Bureau of Indian Affairs Guidelines for State Courts; Indian Child Custody Proceedings (44 Fed.Reg. 67584, A(1), (Nov. 26, 1979).)<sup>3</sup>

Additionally, under California's scheme, section 224, subdivision (d), in an obvious recognition by the Legislature of the latitude Congress intended to give states in the interpretation and enforcement of the ICWA, provides, *in language which mirrors ICWA*, that: "In any case in which this code or other applicable state or federal law provides a higher standard of protection to the rights of the parent or Indian custodian or an Indian child, or the Indian child's tribe, than the rights provided under the Indian Child Welfare Act, the court shall apply the higher standard."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Guidelines are not intended to have binding legislative effect on state courts. (Guidelines, supra, § B.1; *In re S.B.* (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 1148, 1157.) However, construction of a statute by the executive department charged with its administration is entitled to great weight. (*In re Brandon T.* (2008) 164 Cal.App.4th 1400, 1412; *In re Junious M.* (1983) 144 Cal.App.3d 786, 792, fn. 7.)

Accordingly, the rule 5.482(c) requiring a juvenile court to treat a child who has been found by a tribe to be *eligible* for enrollment as an Indian child until membership in a tribe can be perfected, is not an unlawful expansion of ICWA's definition of an Indian child.

Additionally, under the California Constitution, the Judicial Council may not adopt rules that are "inconsistent with statute." (Cal. Const., art. VI, § 6, subd. (d).) Indeed, section 265 provides: "The Judicial Council shall establish rules governing practice and procedure in the juvenile court not inconsistent with law." This Honorable Court has recently held that a "rule is inconsistent with a statute [only] if it conflicts with either the statute's express language or its underlying legislative intent [Citations]." (*In re Alonzo J.* (2014) 58 Cal.4th 924, 936.)

In a better reasoned case, the court in *In re Jack C*. explained that these rules were not in conflict with statute. The court in *Jack C*., stated: "ICWA expressly permits state or federal law to provide a higher standard of protection to the rights of the Indian child and his or her parent or Indian guardian than the protection of rights provided

under ICWA. (25 U.S.C. § 1921.) Thus ICWA does not preempt such higher state standards. (*In re S.B., supra*, 130 Cal.App.4th at p. 1158.) Rather, rule 5.482(c) promotes the timely resolution of dependency matters by avoiding protracted litigation concerning the applicability of ICWA." (*Ibid.*)

In *Jack C*. the children were found by the tribe to be Indian children "who would be enrolled in the Band" upon completion of the enrollment procedures. (*Jack C., supra,* 192 Cal.App.4th at p. 980.)

Likewise, in the instant case, the Cherokee Nation confirmed that the children case were eligible for enrollment and would be declared members of the tribe upon enrollment. (CT 333.) Indeed, the January 29, 2013, letter from the tribe states "the above listed child/children [are] eligible for enrollment and affiliation with the Cherokee Nation by having direct lineage to an enrolled member" but that the tribe needed an official enrollment before it could seek intervention. (CT 333.) Accordingly, there is no difference, whatsoever, in these two factual situations in *Abbigail A*. and *Jack C*. other than use of different words, which have substantially the same meaning.

Finally, the decision in the present case is fundamentally incorrect, because tribal eligibility and membership are not clear cut notions, which can be so easily identified as the court *In re Abbigail A.* presumes. (§ 224, subd. (c).) It is a tribe, not a juvenile court, which is empowered, within the limits of the ICWA, to determine the tribal membership or enrollment status of an Indian child and that the trial court determines whether the ICWA applies. (*Dwayne P. v. Superior Court* (2002) 103 Cal.App.4th 247, 255; *In re Santos Y.* (2002) 92 Cal.App.4th 1274, 1300.)

In other words, *membership* may exist absent of *enrollment*.

Consequently, for many tribes eligibility *is* enrollment. The decision in *Abbigail A*. does not account for this principle. The holding of *In* re Jack C. is the better view.

## CONCLUSION.

Because California Rules of Court, rule 5.482(c) and rule 5.484(c)(2) are not inconsistent with section 224, subdivision (a)(1), when they require a juvenile court to treat as if he were an Indian under the ICWA, a child who has been found by a tribe to be eligible for tribal membership, but who has not yet obtained formal enrollment, this Honorable Court should grant this petition for review and overturn Abbigail A.