SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

AUG 08 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk
IN RE A.A., ET AL.
Deputy

Persons Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law.

SACRAMENTO COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

vs.

J.A., ET AL.

Defendants, Respondents and Petitioner.

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL THIRD APPELLATE DISTRICT CASE NO. C074264

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOHN F. WHISENHUNT, County Counsel
[California State Bar 89823]
LILLY C. FRAWLEY, Deputy County Counsel
[California State Bar 80060]
COUNTY OF SACRAMENTO
3331 Power Inn Road, Suite 350
Sacramento, CA 95826

ISSUES PRESENTED

If this court grants review, appellant respectfully requests that the court reframe the issues as follows:

- (1) Does the mandate in the Indian Child Welfare Act (ICWA) (25 U.S.C. § 1921) for states to provide higher protections to a specific class of persons covered (e.g., Indian children) authorize states to broaden application of the ICWA to non-Indian children pursuant to local court rules (i.e., California Rules of Court, rule 5.482(c) and rule 5.484(c)(2))?
- (2) Does the recommendation for liberal construction by the Bureau of Indian Affairs Guidelines for State Courts; Indian Child Custody Proceedings (44 Fed.Reg. 67584-67595, at p. 67586 (Nov. 26, 1979) (BIA Guidelines)) require states to apply the ICWA's protections to children who do not meet the ICWA's definition of an "Indian child"?

ADDITIONAL ISSUES

If this court grants review, appellant also respectfully requests that the court consider the following additional issues:

- (1) Whether ICWA coverage is based on tribal affiliation or Indian ancestry (race)?
- (2) Whether California Rules of Court, rule 5.482(c) and rule 5.484(c)(2) violate equal protection under the United States Constitution by broadening application of the ICWA to non-Indian children (e.g., children who are not members but are eligible for membership, except neither biological parent is a member of a federally recognized tribe)?
- (3) Whether California Rules of Court, rule 5.482(c) and rule 5.484(c)(2) violate the supremacy clause of the United States Constitution, and as such, are barred by the doctrine of federal pre-emption? If not, does adoption of the rules in question exceed the California Judicial Council's constitutional and statutory authority, as well as violate the separation of powers doctrine?

INTRODUCTION

This case raises the question of the validity of two rules of court governing the application of the ICWA: (1) California Rules of Court, rule 5.482(c), ¹ which provides that if the tribe indicates the child is eligible for membership "if certain steps are followed," the juvenile court must proceed as if an Indian child is involved as well as "direct the appropriate individual or agency to provide active efforts under rule 5.484(c) to secure tribal

Further rule references are to the California Rules of Court.

membership for the child" (rule 5.482(c), italics added for emphasis); and (2) rule 5.484(c)(2), which provides that "[e]fforts to provide services must include pursuit of any steps necessary to secure tribal membership for a child if the child is eligible for membership in a given tribe...." (Rule 5.484(c)(2), italics added for emphasis.)

Petitioner contends that a conflict in case law has been created by *In* re Jack C. (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 967 (Jack C.) and *In re Abbigail A.*, et al. (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 1450 (Abbigail A.) regarding the validity of rules 5.482(c) and 5.484(c)(2); and thus, review is necessary to resolve the alleged split of authority.

Appellant submits that review is unnecessary because the conflict between *Abbigail A.*, *supra*, and *Jack C.*, *supra*, is illusory; and the appellate court's decision is correct.

BACKGROUND

The opinion in *Abbigail A.*, *supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th 1450 sets forth the relevant facts. This case involves two minors, Abbigail A. and Justin A., who are not Indian Children as defined by the ICWA (25 U.S.C. § 1903(4)) but whose paternal great-aunt and great-grandmother were affiliated with the Cherokee Nation of Oklahoma ("tribe"). (*Id.* at p. 1453.) letter from the tribe stated that neither the minors nor their biological father

are members; but that the children are descendants of tribal members and eligible for membership. (*Id.* at p. 1455.) The tribe also declined to intervene because the father was not yet enrolled as a member. (*Ibid.*)

At a combined Welfare and Institutions Code² sections 355 and 358 hearing in May 2013, the juvenile court found the minors subject to its jurisdiction. (*Abbigail A., supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th at p. 1453.) Pursuant to rules 5.482(c) and 5.484(c)(2), the juvenile court directed DHHS to make active efforts to secure membership for the children in the tribe. (*Ibid.*) The juvenile court also ordered application of the substantive provisions of the ICWA. (*Id.* at p. 1455.)

On appeal, DHHS raised a multitude of grounds for invalidating the rules at issue. The opinion by the appellate court included a reference to two of the grounds: Federal law preempts the attempt by the rules at issue to extend protections to children who are not Indian children; and the rules are inconsistent with the statutory definition of the class of protected children set forth by federal and state law, and therefore, the California Judicial Council exceeded its constitutional and statutory authority by adopting rules that require the application of the ICWA to non-Indian

All further statutory references are to the Welfare and Institutions Code unless otherwise noted.

children, such as those in the pending case. (*Abbigail A., supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th at p. 1454.) In a decision published on June 16, 2014, without reaching all the claims raised by DHHS, the Third District Court of Appeal reversed the juvenile court's judgment on the basis of the aforementioned second point. (*Ibid.*)³

LEGAL DISCUSSION

Appellant contends that the petition does not state any grounds for review.

If this court grants review, however, appellant respectfully requests that the court reframe the issues as follows: (1) does the ICWA's mandate for states to provide higher protections to a specific class of persons covered (Indian children and their tribe, parents or custodian or custodians) authorize states to broaden application of the ICWA to a non-Indian child who is eligible for membership in a tribe when neither of the child's biological parents is a member; and (2) does the BIA Guidelines' recommendation for liberal construction require states to apply the ICWA's protections even when a child does not meet the statutory definition of an "Indian child"?

Additional facts and the procedural aspects of this case are set forth in the decision of the Court of Appeal. (Abbigail A., supra, 226 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1453-1456.)

Because the petition failed to state any grounds for review, the issue set forth in the petition should be reframed, as previously noted, if this court grants review. Furthermore, if review is granted, to decide the real issues presented, the court will need to address additional issues identified by DHHS below.

I. THERE ARE NO GROUNDS FOR SUPREME COURT REVIEW.

The petition frames the issue for review as follows:

Are California Rules of Court, rule 5.482(c) and rule 5.484(c)(2) consistent with Welfare and Institutions Code [fn. omitted] section 224, subdivision (a)(1), when they require a juvenile court to treat as if he were an Indian under the ICWA, a child who has been found by a tribe to be eligible for tribal membership, but who has not yet obtained formal enrollment? (Petition, p. 2.)

The petition ignores the fact that neither petitioner nor the children are members of the tribe; and that the tribe's letter expressly states that the children are *not* Indian children. (2 CT 333, 390.) Equally disconcerting, petitioner's statement of the issue merely contains an isolated reference to section 224, subdivision (a)(1),⁴ with no mention of the provisions setting

See fn. 5, post.

forth the definition of an "Indian child" in the federal ICWA, and incorporated into state law.⁵

A. The petition for review ignores the fact that the tribe has determined that the children are *not* Indian children.

Petitioner highlights only a part of the record on appeal favorable to him—that "a January 2013[] letter from the Cherokee Nation of Oklahoma[] determined that the children were *eligible* for membership in the tribe." (Petition, p. 9, italics added by petitioner.) His selective reading of the tribe's response ignores the following pivotal facts: (1) the letters from the tribe indicate that the children in the pending case are *not* members of the Cherokee Nation albeit they are eligible for enrollment (2 CT 333, 390; RT 50-52); (2) the tribe determined that it could not intervene until and unless the following condition was satisfied: "when the child/children or eligible parent[s] apply *and receive* membership" (2 CT 333, italics added for emphasis; 2 CT 390 [same]); (3) to date,

⁵ Cf., *Abbigail A.*, *supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th 1450, wherein the court clearly set forth the definition of an Indian child:

The definition of 'Indian children' in the ICWA and state law requires that minors be either (a) members of a tribe themselves or (b) biological children of members of a tribe and eligible for tribal membership. (25 U.S.C. § 1903(4); Welf. & Inst.Code, § 224.1, subd. (a).) (Abbigail A., supra, at pp. 1453-1454, italics added for emphasis.)

petitioner's membership application is still pending;⁶ and (4) the juvenile court found that the children and petitioner are *not* members of the tribe. (RT 52.)

In short, the petition for review ignores the fact that the tribe has determined that the children are *not* Indian children; and the juvenile court found that neither they nor petitioners are members of the tribe. Thus, regardless of whether there is a true conflict between *Jack C.*, *supra*, and *Abbigail A.*, *supra*, the point remains that the children in this case are *not* Indian children, and cannot be until the Cherokee Nation has approved their father's membership application.

B. The petition for review ignores the fact that because Congress intended a uniform definition of the terms triggering application of the ICWA, the definition of "Indian Child" must be narrowly construed.

The petition ignores the fact that because Congress intended a uniform definition of the terms triggering application of the ICWA, the definition of "Indian child" must be narrowly construed. More to the point, the petition omits any reference to either the federal or state law's definition of an "Indian child." Instead, petitioner raises a red herring: "formal enrollment in a tribe is not dispositive of membership in a tribe." (Petition,

The record does not show that an application for membership has been completed by petitioner and approved by the tribe.

p. 6, italics added by petitioner.) This is a non-issue because appellant agrees that enrollment is but one way of demonstrating tribal membership.

The ICWA does not extend "Indian child" status to an eligible child born to non-members. Instead, the ICWA defines an Indian child as "any unmarried person who is under age eighteen and is either (a) a member of an Indian tribe or (b) is eligible for membership in an Indian tribe and is the biological child of a member of an Indian tribe." (25 U.S.C. § 1903(4), italics added for emphasis; Mississippi Band of Choctaw Indians

v. Holyfield (1989) 490 U.S. 30, 42 (Holyfield); see also § 224.1, subd. (a) [incorporating operative definitions, including definition of "Indian child," from federal ICWA].) Thus, if a child is not a member, the ICWA allows a child who is eligible for membership to be designated "Indian child" only if the child is born to a member of a tribe. (Ibid.)

Congress intended the jurisdictional terms established by the ICWA be given a consistent, uniform meaning. (See *Holyfield*, *supra*, 490 U.S. at p. 51.) In construing the meaning of "domicile" as used in the ICWA, the United States Supreme Court held that Congress intended the word be given nationwide uniformity. (*Id.* at p. 47.)⁷ While domicile of the

In *Holyfield*, *supra*, 490 U.S. 30, while analyzing the meaning of domicile as used in the ICWA, the United States Supreme Court noted that Congress did not enact the ICWA with the expectation that its terms and

children is not an issue in this case, *Holyfield*, *supra*, instructs that the definition of an Indian child must be given the construction which provides uniformity for purposes of the ICWA.

In *In re W.B.* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 30 (*W.B.*), the California Supreme Court construed a provision of the California Rules of Court which required a delinquency court to comply with the notice provisions of ICWA when placing a delinquent in foster care. In rejecting the child's contention that state legislation expanded ICWA to delinquency proceedings to require notice to Indian tribes in delinquency cases, the court stated: The "ICWA is quite precise in setting out the scope of its provisions." (*Id.* at p. 49, fn. omitted [citing 25 U.S.C. § 1903, and quoting definition of "Indian child" as prescribed by 25 U.S.C. § 1903(4)]; see also *In re R.M.W.* (Tex.App. 2006) 188 S.W.3d 831, 833, italics added for emphasis [finding that the child was not an "Indian child" as "*narrowly* defined by the ICWA."].)

provisions would depend on state law, and thus utilize various state-law definitions without consistency. (*Id.* at pp. 42-45.) The court reasoned that "federal statutes are generally intended to have uniform nationwide application." (*Id.* at p. 43; see also at p. 47 [wherein the court concluded that it was "beyond dispute that Congress intended a uniform federal law of domicile for the ICWA."].)

In short, the ICWA's definition of an "Indian child" is narrow and simple: The ICWA prescribes two alternate routes by which a child can meet the definition of an "Indian child." (25 U.S.C. § 1903(4).) The child must either be a member of a federally recognized tribe; or if a child is not a member, the ICWA allows a child who is *eligible* for membership to be designated "Indian child" only if the child is born to a *member* of a tribe. (*Ibid.*) Conversely, the ICWA does not extend "Indian child" status to an eligible child born to *non-members*. (*Ibid.*)

As applied to this case, it is insufficient for the children to simply have Indian ancestry. For children who are not tribal members, such as the children in this case, eligibility is only one criterion necessary for triggering application of the ICWA. Thus, these children in this case must also satisfy the "and" component of the statutory definition of an Indian child (25 U.S.C. § 1903(4), which can be achieved only *if* the tribe approves petitioner's membership application. This is not changed by his "higher standards" and "liberal construction" arguments, as we will explain.

1. The mandate in subchapter 1 of chapter 21 of the ICWA (25 U.S.C. § 1921) to apply higher state protections cannot be used to broaden the definition of an "Indian child," which is found in another part of the ICWA (25 U.S.C. § 1903(4)).

Section 224.1, subdivision (a) defines an "Indian child" by incorporating the ICWA's definition: "As used in this division, unless the context requires otherwise, ...'Indian child[]'...shall be defined as provided in Section 1903 of the Indian Child Welfare Act (25 U.S.C. Sec. 1901 et seq.)." (§ 224.1, subd. (a), italics added for emphasis.) As the Abbigail A. court noted, "it makes as 'little sense' here as it did in W.B. to interpret the express incorporation of the ICWA definition as allowing for the application of ICWA provisions to a broader class of children. (Abbigail A., supra, 226 Cal.App.4th at p. 1459, citing W.B., supra, 55 Cal.4th at pp. 50-55.)

As dicta by the court in *In re Jose C*. (2007) 155 Cal.App.4th 844 (*Jose C*.) explained, section 224, subdivision (c) mandates that the tribe must determine that the minor is eligible for membership *and* is the biological child of a member for ICWA to apply:

...Eligibility is only *one* criterion necessary to be found to be an Indian child. While the minors here were eligible, they were not members and they were not the biological children of a member. Their membership or the membership of one of their biological parents is a

requirement to be found to be an Indian child. (*Jose C.*, *supra*, 155 Cal.App.4th at p. 849.)

Disregarding the definition of an Indian child set forth in the ICWA, petitioner instead cites section 224, subdivision (d) and 25 U.S.C. section 1921, which mandate application of a higher level of protection. (Petition, p. 6.)

Title 25 U.S.C. section 1921 states that higher state standards may apply to rights "provided under *this* subchapter." (25 U.S.C. § 1921, itals. added for emphasis; see also § 224, subd. (d) [state law similarly proving that higher standard of protection is applicable].) The application of 25 U.S.C. section 1921, however, is expressly limited to "this subchapter"—referring to subchapter I of chapter 21. Subchapter I in turn begins with 25 U.S.C. section 1911, et seq., which cover matters such as noticing, intervention, transfer of cases and removal of children. (25 U.S.C. § 1912(a) [noticing]; 25 U.S.C. § 1911(c) [intervention]; 25 U.S.C. § 1911(b) [transfer of cases]; 25 U.S.C. § 1915 [placement].)

In other words, by its express terms, the reference to "a higher standard" in 25 U.S.C. section 1921 does not apply to the definitions found in section 1903, which includes the definition of an "Indian child" found in a different part of the ICWA *preceding* subchapter 1. Thus, the heightened -standard reference in 25 U.S.C. section 1921 only applies when a child

custody proceeding involves an *Indian child*. (*In re Santos Y*. (2002) 92 Cal.App.4th 1274, 1300.) As such, the "higher standard" provision cannot be used to bootstrap a non-Indian child into the purview of the ICWA.

Simply put, 25 U.S.C. section 1921 merely sanctions higher protections for a *specific* class of persons, *not* broader application of the protections to *more* people. (See *In re Adoption of C.D.* (N.D. 2008) 751 N.W.2d 236, 240 italics added (*Adoption of C.D.*) ["ICWA's heightened standards for termination of parental rights apply only if an Indian child, *as defined in the Act*, is involved."].) This interpretation is supported by reading the provision together with 25 U.S.C. section 1902, which provides:

The Congress hereby declares that it is the policy of this Nation to protect the best interests of Indian children and to promote the stability and security of Indian tribes and families by the establishment of minimum Federal standards for the *removal* of *Indian children* from their families and the *placement of such children* in foster or adoptive homes (25 U.S.C. § 1902, italics added.)

In short, the higher standards of protection provided by the states are not triggered until and unless a child meets the narrow, precise definition of an "Indian child" set forth in the federal ICWA and incorporated into state law by the California Legislature.

2. Liberal construction is not a substitute for meeting the definition of an "Indian child."

Petitioner contends that "ICWA, federal guidelines implementing ICWA, and any state statutes, regulation or rules promulgated to implement ICWA shall be liberally construed to effectuate its purpose and preferences." (Petition, p. 12.)

It is true that the BIA Guidelines on the ICWA urge a liberal construction of the ICWA to further its purposes. As petitioner acknowledges, however, the BIA Guidelines do not have a binding effect on state courts. (Petition, p. 12, fn. 3.) Moreover, the ICWA does not apply until the tribe determines that a child is an "Indian child." (*Jack C.*, *supra*, 192 Cal.App.4th at p. 980; *Jose C.*, *supra*, 155 Cal.App.4th at p. 849.)

In other words, the Guidelines' recommendation for "liberal construction" is not a substitute for meeting the ICWA's narrow definition of an "Indian child." (See *In re Alicia S.* (1998) 65 Cal.App.4th 79, 84 italics added [wherein the court construed the plain language of the ICWA and held that the provisions of the ICWA apply to "all child custody proceedings involving an *Indian child*"] see also pp. 89-90 [noting that "[w]hen statutory language is clear and unambiguous there is no need for construction and courts should not indulge in it. [Citations omitted]."].)

Ignoring the tribe's determination that the children in this case are not tribal members, and that his membership application has not been approved, petitioner focuses on section 224, stating:

...That section provides, in relevant part, 'the State of California has an interest in protecting Indian children who are members of, or eligible for membership in, an Indian tribe.' (§ 224, subd. (a)(1), italics added [by petitioner].) It further states in subdivision (a)(2) that 'It is the interest of an Indian child that the child's membership...and connection to the tribal community be encouraged and protected.' (Petition, p. 6.)

Petitioner's reference to section 224 is not dispositive. As the court in *In re Christina A*. (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 1153 noted: "The fundamental purpose of statutory construction is to ascertain the intent of the lawmakers so as to effectuate the purpose of the law. (*Id.* at p. 1162.) "[T]o determine this intent, we begin by examining the language of the statute. [Citations.]" (*People v. Pieters* (1991) 52 Cal.3d 894, 898.)

Because "statutory language must...be construed in the context of the statute as a whole and the overall statutory scheme" (*People v. Rizo* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 681, 685), in construing section 224, one must refer to another provision not mentioned in the petition: Section 224.1, subdivision (a), which provides a clear definition of an "Indian child"—by incorporating the ICWA's definition. (§ 224.1, subd. (a).)

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